
 

 

November 24, 2021 
 
 
 

Via Electronic Mail 
 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton  
Secretary to the Commission  
U.S. International Trade Commission  
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112  
Washington, D.C. 20436 
 
 

Re: Certain High-Density Fiber Optic Equipment and Components Thereof,  
Inv. No. 337-TA-1194 (Enforcement Proceeding) 

 
Dear Secretary Barton: 
 

Enclosed for filing on behalf of Complainant Corning Optical Communications LLC are 
documents in support of Corning’s request that the Commission commence an enforcement 
proceeding pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, and 
Commission Rule 210.75, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75.  A request for confidential treatment of Corning’s 
Enforcement Complaint and Confidential Exhibits 3, 4, 5 and 7 is included with this submission.  

Accordingly, Corning submits the following documents for filing: 

1. One (1) electronic copy of Corning’s Non-Confidential Enforcement Complaint; 

2. One (1) electronic copy of the non-confidential exhibits to the Complaint; 

3. One (1) electronic copy of Corning’s Confidential Enforcement Complaint; 

4. One (1) electronic copy of the confidential exhibits to the Complaint; and 

5. A letter and certification requesting confidential treatment for the information 
contained in Corning’s Enforcement Complaint and Confidential Exhibits 3, 4, 5 
and 7 thereto, pursuant to Commission Rules 201.6(b) and 210.5(d). 



 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton  
November 24, 2021 
Page 2 
 

 

Please contact me should you have any questions concerning this submission. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ John Thorne 
 
John Thorne 
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Via Electronic Mail 
 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton  
Secretary to the Commission  
U.S. International Trade Commission  
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112  
Washington, D.C. 20436 
 
 

Re: Certain High-Density Fiber Optic Equipment and Components Thereof,  
Inv. No. 337-TA-1194 (Enforcement Proceeding) 

 
Dear Secretary Barton: 
 

Complainant Corning Optical Communications LLC hereby requests, pursuant to 19 
C.F.R. § 201.6, confidential treatment of the confidential business information contained in the 
Confidential Version of Corning’s Enforcement Complaint and Confidential Exhibits 3, 4, 5 and 
7 to Corning’s Complaint transmitted herewith.  Confidential business information is identified 
by red brackets.   

The information for which confidential treatment is sought is proprietary commercial and 
technical information not otherwise publicly available.  Specifically, the enforcement complaint 
and exhibits contain the following: 

Confidential Enforcement Complaint:  The Enforcement Complaint contains 
information regarding Corning’s sensitive commercial relationships, which would be harmed by 
disclosure of the information.  The complaint also contains material, including inventory and 
sales data, designated by Respondent Panduit Corporation as confidential business information in 
the underlying investigation.  The Complaint cites to and describes documents and data that were 
produced by Panduit as confidential business information in the underlying investigation. 

Confidential Exhibit 3:  The Letter from Kelly J. Eberspecher to Secretary Lisa Barton, 
EDIS Doc. ID 748665, dated Aug. 4, 2021, contains material, including inventory and sales data, 
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designated by Respondent Panduit Corporation as confidential business information in the 
underlying investigation. 

Confidential Exhibit 4:  The Letter from Secretary Lisa Barton to Kelly J. Eberspecher, 
EDIS Doc. ID 754794, dated Oct. 21, 2021, contains material, including inventory and sales 
data, designated by Respondent Panduit Corporation as confidential business information in the 
underlying investigation. 

Confidential Exhibit 5:  The Declaration of Mary Ann K. Endo contains information 
regarding Corning’s sensitive commercial relationships, which would be harmed disclosure of 
the information.  It also contains material, including inventory and sales data, designated by 
Panduit as confidential business information in the underlying investigation.  The declaration 
cites to, describes, and attaches at Attachment 74 documents that were produced by Panduit as 
confidential business information in the underlying investigation.  The declaration also cites to, 
describes, and attaches at Attachment 11 deposition testimony marked as Panduit’s confidential 
business information.  Attachments 10, 12-15 and 82-113 are incapable of redaction because 
disclosure of any part of them would damage Corning’s sensitive business relationships. 

Confidential Exhibit 7:  The Declaration of W. Todd Schoettelkotte contains material, 
including inventory and sales data, designated by Respondent Panduit as confidential business 
information in the underlying investigation.  The declaration cites to and describes documents 
and data that were produced by Panduit as confidential business information in the underlying 
investigation.   

The information described above qualifies as confidential information pursuant to 19 
C.F.R. § 201.6 because: 

a. it is not available to the public; 

b. unauthorized disclosure of such information could cause substantial harm the 
competitive position of Corning or Panduit; and 

c. its disclosure could impair the Commission’s ability to obtain information 
necessary to perform its statutory function. 

Please contact me should you have any questions concerning this submission. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ John Thorne 
 
John Thorne 

 
 
 
 
 



UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 

In the Matter of 

CERTAIN HIGH-DENSITY  
FIBER OPTIC EQUIPMENT AND 
COMPONENTS THEREOF 

Investigation No. 337-TA-1194 
(Enforcement Proceeding) 

ENFORCEMENT COMPLAINT OF CORNING OPTICAL COMMUNICATIONS LLC, 
UNDER SECTION 337 OF THE TARIFF ACT OF 1930, AS AMENDED 

COMPLAINANT 

Corning Optical Communications LLC 
4200 Corning Place 
Charlotte, NC 28216 
Tel.: (828) 901-5000 

COUNSEL FOR COMPLAINANT 

John Thorne 
Mark C. Hansen 
Michael K. Kellogg 
Evan T. Leo 
Gregory G. Rapawy 
Andrew E. Goldsmith 
Jacob E. Hartman 
Matthew J. Wilkins 
Hannah D. Carlin 
KELLOGG, HANSEN, TODD, FIGEL & 

FREDERICK, P.L.L.C. 
1615 M Street NW  
Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20036 
Tel.: (202) 326-7900 

 PROPOSED RESPONDENT 

Panduit Corporation  
18900 Panduit Drive 
Tinley Park, IL 60487 
Tel.: (800) 777-3300 

Email: CORNINGEDGE@lists.kellogghansen.com 

Christine E. Lehman 
Connor S. Houghton 
REICHMAN JORGENSEN LEHMAN  

& FELDBERG LLP 
1710 Rhode Island Avenue, NW 
12th Floor  
Washington, DC 20036 
Tel.: (202) 894-7310 
Email: CORNINGEDGE@lists.kellogghansen.com 

PUBLIC VERSION



ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I.  INTRODUCTION ...............................................................................................................1 

II.  JURISDICTION ..................................................................................................................5 

III.  COMPLAINANT ................................................................................................................5 

IV.  PROPOSED ENFORCEMENT RESPONDENT................................................................5 

V.  THE TECHNOLOGY AND COVERED PRODUCTS AT ISSUE....................................6 

VI.  EVIDENCE OF VIOLATION OF THE CEASE AND DESIST ORDER .........................7 

A.  Panduit and Its Distributors Continue To Sell Imported Covered 
Products....................................................................................................................7 

B.  It Appears that Panduit Paid a Lower Bond Than Required for 
Covered Products It Sold During the Presidential Review Period ........................10 

C.  Panduit’s Purported Justifications for Its Violations of the Cease and 
Desist Order Are Baseless and Indicate Bad Faith ................................................13 

VII.  RELATED LITIGATION AND AGENCY PROCEEDINGS..........................................16 

VIII.  RELIEF REQUESTED ......................................................................................................17 

PUBLIC VERSION



iii 

TABLE OF EXHIBITS 

Exhibit Document 

1 Cease and Desist Order directed to Respondent Panduit Corporation, EDIS Doc. ID 
748562 (Aug. 3, 2021) 

2 General Exclusion Order, EDIS Doc. ID (Aug. 3, 2021) 

3 Letter from Kelly J. Eberspecher to Secretary Lisa Barton, EDIS Doc. ID 748665 
(Aug. 4, 2021) (Confidential and Public) 

4 Letter from Secretary Lisa Barton to Kelly J. Eberspecher, EDIS Doc. ID 754794 
(Oct. 21, 2021) (Confidential and Public) 

5 Declaration of Mary Ann K. Endo (Confidential and Public) 

6 Letter from Kelly J. Eberspecher to Secretary Barton, EDIS Doc. ID 754723  
(Oct. 21, 2021) 

7 Declaration of W. Todd Schoettelkotte (Confidential and Public) 

8 Panduit, Panduit Responds to Ongoing Patent Infringement Lawsuit, PR Newswire, 
June 21, 2021 

9 Letter from Kelly J. Eberspecher to John Thorne (Nov. 15, 2021) 

 
 

PUBLIC VERSION



 

1 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Complainant Corning Optical Communications LLC (“Corning”) files this 

Complaint and requests that the United States International Trade Commission commence an 

enforcement proceeding pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 

U.S.C. § 1337, and Commission Rule 210.75, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75, to investigate and remedy the 

continuing unfair acts of Respondent Panduit Corporation (“Panduit”), in violation of the 

General Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Order issued by the Commission on August 3, 

2021. 

2. On February 21, 2020, Corning filed a complaint alleging a violation of Section 

337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, based on importation into the United States, sale for 

importation, and/or sale within the United States after importation of certain high-density fiber 

optic equipment and components thereof that infringe one or more of U.S. Patent Nos. 9,020,320 

(“the ’320 patent”), 10,444,456 (“the ’456 patent”), 10,120,153 (“the ’153 patent”), 8,712,206 

(“the ’206 patent”), and 10,094,996 (“the ’996 patent”).  Corning supplemented its complaint on 

March 2, 11, and 13, 2020.  The Commission instituted an investigation on March 19, 2020.  See 

85 Fed. Reg. 16,653 (Mar. 24, 2020). 

3. Corning’s complaint named 13 respondents.  The notice of investigation also 

named the Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”) as a party.  Corning withdrew its 

allegations against respondent Legrand North America, LLC, see Order No. 5, EDIS Doc. ID 

708082 (Apr. 16, 2020); respondents Huber+Suhner AG and Huber + Suhner, Inc. elected to 

default, see Order No. 7, EDIS Doc. ID 712284 (June 9, 2020); Order No. 8, EDIS Doc. ID 

712285 (June 9, 2020); respondents Shenzhen Anfkom Telecom Co., Ltd. d/b/a Anfkom 

Telecom, Shanghai TARLUZ Telecom Tech. Co., Ltd. d/b/a TARLUZ, and Wulei Technology 

Co., Ltd. d/b/a Bonelinks, were found in default after failing to respond, see Order No. 13, EDIS 
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Doc. ID 717872 (Aug. 21, 2020); and respondents Total Cable Solutions, Inc. (“TCS”) and AFL 

Telecommunications LLC settled, see Order No. 16, EDIS Doc. ID 718303 (Sept. 10, 2020), 

aff’d with modification, Comm’n Notice, EDIS Doc. ID 720632 (Sept. 29, 2020); Order No. 27, 

EDIS Doc. ID 722630 (Oct. 20, 2020).  Respondents Panduit, Leviton Manufacturing Co., Inc. 

(“Leviton”), The Siemon Company (“Siemon”), FS.com Inc. (“FS.com”), and The LAN 

Wirewerks Research Laboratories Inc. d/b/a Wirewerks (“Wirewerks”) remained active in the 

investigation.   

4. Corning originally asserted 52 claims from five patents, but narrowed its 

allegations to assert 17 claims of four patents (the ’320 patent, the ’456 patent, the ’153 patent, 

and the ’206 patent (collectively, the “Asserted Patents”)).  See Order No. 11, EDIS Doc. ID 

715937 (July 29, 2020); Order No. 18, EDIS Doc. ID 719586 (Sept. 14, 2020); Order No. 19, 

EDIS Doc. ID 720989 (Oct. 2, 2020). 

5. The pre-hearing conference and evidentiary hearing took place from October 21-

26, 2020.   

6. On March 23, 2021, presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) Hon. David P. 

Shaw issued a final initial determination (“ID”) finding that the accused products infringed some 

or all of the asserted claims and those claims had not been shown to be invalid.  The ID also 

found that the domestic industry requirement was satisfied with respect to all the Asserted 

Patents under Section 337(a)(3)(B) and (C).  Accordingly, the ID found a violation of Section 

337 with respect to claims 1 and 3 of the ’320 patent; claims 11, 12, 14-16, 19, 21, 27, and 28 of 

the ’456 patent; claims 9, 16, 23, and 26 of the ’153 patent; and claims 22 and 23 of the ’206 

patent.  The ALJ also issued a Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bonding (“RD”).  

The RD recommended that the Commission find a violation of Section 337, issue a General 
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Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Orders, and impose a bond during the Presidential Review 

Period. 

7. On May 24, 2021, the Commission determined to review the ID in part.  See 86 

Fed. Reg. 28890 (May 28, 2021).   

8. On August 3, 2021, the Commission issued its opinion finding that Panduit had 

violated Section 337 with respect to claims 1 and 3 of the ’320 patent; claims 11, 12, 14-16, 19, 

21, 27, and 28 of the ’456 patent; and claims 9, 16, 23, and 26 of the ’153 patent.  See Comm’n 

Op., EDIS Doc. ID 748554 (Aug. 3, 2021) (“Comm’n Op.”).  Specifically, the Commission 

affirmed with modifications the ID’s following findings:  (1) “that Respondent  . . . Panduit 

satisf [ies] the importation requirement”; and (2) “that the imported article(s) of Respondent 

Panduit . . . are respectively used by [its] customers to directly infringe the asserted claims of 

the ’320, ’456, and ’153 patents at [Panduit’s] inducement.”  86 Fed. Reg. 43564, 43565 (Aug. 9, 

2021). 

9. On August 3, 2021, the Commission issued the “Notice of the Commission’s 

Final Determination Finding a Violation of Section 337; Issuance Of A General Exclusion Order 

and Cease and Desist Orders; Termination Of The Investigation,” setting forth the details of its 

determination on remedy, bonding, and the public interest.  See 86 Fed. Reg. 43564.  The 

Commission issued a Cease and Desist Order directed to Panduit and a General Exclusion Order 

(collectively, the “Orders”).  See Exs. 1 and 2, respectively.  

10. The Presidential Review Period for the Commission’s Orders concluded on 

October 2, 2021.   

11. None of the respondents sought reconsideration or stay of the Commission’s 

decision.  Panduit indicated that it intended to continue selling the covered products during the 
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Presidential Review Period and made two bond submissions, dated August 4 and October 21, 

2021, in the amounts of  and .  See Exs. 3 and 4, respectively.  Panduit 

has not sought an advisory opinion or clarification from the Commission as to the appropriate 

amount of the bond or what conduct is permitted now that the Presidential Review Period has 

concluded. 

12. As noted below in Section VII, there is no related proceeding that will affect the 

Commission’s enforcement of the Orders.  Panduit filed a petition for inter partes review of one 

of the three patents it was found to infringe, the ’456 patent, on October 18, 2021.  The Patent 

Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB”) has not made any decision to institute that IPR; the deadline 

for the institution is Monday, April 18, 2022.  Panduit is estopped from filing any IPR involving 

the ’320 patent.  Panduit’s prior IPR of the ’320 was rejected on the merits by the PTAB and the 

PTAB’s decision was summarily affirmed by the Federal Circuit. 

13. This Complaint alleges two violations.  First, following the Presidential Review 

Period, Panduit, both directly and through its distributors, has been and is continuing to sell, 

advertise, and market the covered products.  In just the last week, Corning has bought sample 

Panduit covered products – stamped “MADE IN COSTA RICA” – from distributors 

recommended on Panduit’s website.  In addition, Panduit is still competing for large-scale 

customer contracts, offering the imported covered products, even winning one such contract over 

Corning. 

14. Second, for sales during the Presidential Review Period, Panduit posted a bond 

that appears insufficient to cover the products it and its distributors were selling, advertising, and 

marketing.  Panduit’s bond payments imply an implausible 80% drop in sales during that two-

month period.  Such a decrease in sales is inconsistent with the market realities, including very 
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large inventories being advertised and marketed and Panduit’s continuing to sell imported 

covered products even after the Presidential Review Period.  

15. Panduit, despite being found in violation in the underlying investigation and the 

relief issued by the Commission, refuses to curtail its ongoing unlawful activities.  Corning 

respectfully requests enforcement of the Commission’s Orders, as well as the imposition of 

sanctions against Panduit. 

II. JURISDICTION 

16. The Commission has jurisdiction over this matter and the proposed party pursuant 

to Sections 333 and 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, and 19 C.F.R. § 210.75.    

III. COMPLAINANT 

17. Complainant Corning is a North Carolina limited liability company with its 

principal place of business at 4200 Corning Place, Charlotte, North Carolina 28216, and with its 

corporate headquarters located at this address.   

IV. PROPOSED ENFORCEMENT RESPONDENT 

18. Respondent Panduit is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business 

at 18900 Panduit Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois 60487.  As discussed further below and in the 

attached declarations, Panduit’s website, product literature, and boxes received in obtaining 

product samples show that Panduit is still selling, marketing, distributing, and advertising in the 

United States imported high-density fiber optic equipment that was found by the Commission to 

infringe claims of the ’320, ’456, and ’153 patents; soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for that 

equipment; and aiding and abetting other entities in selling, transferring, and distributing such 

products. 
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V. THE TECHNOLOGY AND COVERED PRODUCTS AT ISSUE 

19. The technology at issue is high-density fiber optic equipment and components 

thereof, which consist of (1) a chassis with sliding trays that fits within the standardized racks 

used in data centers, and (2) removable modules that are inserted into the sliding trays of the 

chassis, wherein the chassis and modules are used to terminate large numbers of fiber-optic 

cables using standardized connectors (at least 98 connections per standard rack unit (or “U 

space”)).  See Comm’n Op. at 12.   

20. The covered products, as defined by the Commission in its Cease and Desist 

Order and General Exclusion Order, are “(a) chassis (or ‘enclosures’) with sliding trays that fit 

within the standardized racks used in data centers, (b) removable modules (or ‘cassettes’) that are 

inserted into the sliding trays of the chassis, wherein the chassis and modules are used to 

terminate large numbers of fiber-optic cables using standardized connectors (the modules have 

simplex/duplex components (e.g., LC adapters) on the front and multi-fiber components (e.g., 

MPO/MTP adapters) on the rear, and are configured to support at least 98 connections per 

standard rack unit (or ‘U space’)), and (c) combinations of such chassis and modules, as well as 

subassemblies (such as tray subassemblies) that are components of such chassis and modules that 

infringe one or more of claims 1 and 3 of the ’320 patent; claims 9, 16, 23, and 26 of the ’153 

patent; and claims 11, 12, 14-16, 19, 21, 27, and 28 of the ’456 patent.”  Ex. 1 at 2. 

21. Attachment 1 to Exhibit 6 is a non-exhaustive list of Panduit’s modules, by part 

number, that are covered products.  This is the same list on which the ALJ relied in the ID, 

characterizing it as “a complete list of representative accused products for each respondent, along 

with the group of accused products represented by each such product.”  ID at 11 (citing CX-

0001C (Prucnal WS) Q/A 62 and CDX-0013C (Prucnal list of accused products)).  As the 

Commission also acknowledged with respect to Panduit in particular, the “parties agree[d]” with 
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Corning’s list of representative products and the group of accused products represented by each.  

Comm’n Op. at 14. 

VI. EVIDENCE OF VIOLATION OF THE CEASE AND DESIST ORDER 

A. Panduit and Its Distributors Continue To Sell Imported Covered 
Products 

22. After conclusion of the Presidential Review Period on October 2, 2021, the Cease 

and Desist Order forbids Panduit and its distributors from “market[ing], distribut[ing], sell[ing], 

or otherwise transfer[ring] (except for exportation) in the United States imported covered 

products;” “advertis[ing] imported covered products;” and “aid[ing] or abet[ting] other entities in 

the importation, sale for importation, sale after importation, transfer, or distribution of covered 

products.”  Ex. 1 at 3.  But they have not stopped selling, marketing, advertising, transferring, 

and distributing imported covered products to customers in the United States. 

23. As described in detail in the Declaration of Mary Ann K. Endo, attached hereto as 

Exhibit 5, during the last week – more than a month after the conclusion of the Presidential 

Review Period – Corning’s counsel has purchased imported covered products from four of 

Panduit’s distributors.  Panduit’s website identifies these sellers as distributors, and the products 

delivered to Corning’s counsel are labeled “MADE IN COSTA RICA.”  Ex. 5 ¶¶ 3, 10, 19, 26, 

33. 

24. Panduit continues to advertise, market, and sell covered products on its website, 

including webpages featuring 51 covered products.  Measured in units previously sold, these 51 

covered products account for approximately % of Panduit’s covered products.  Ex. 5 ¶ 40. 

25. Panduit continues to sell covered products through at least 24 distributors 

identified as such on Panduit’s website, including four distributors that advertise on their 

websites that the covered products they sell are imported.  Covered products are highlighted by 
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some distributors as “new products,” said to be available to “ship immediately” or to “[u]sually 

ship[ ] in 2-4 days.”  Ex. 5 ¶¶ 86, 99, 118.  Where the product is not currently stocked, customers 

can often “[o]rder [n]ow” with a “[l]ead time up to 3 weeks.”  Id. ¶ 89.  Covered products 

shipped within the next three weeks will still be imported because Panduit has not moved its 

module-manufacturing operations to the United States and cannot do so in a matter of weeks.  

Measured in units previously sold, Panduit’s distributors together currently advertise modules 

that account for approximately % of Panduit’s covered products.  Id. ¶ 43. 

26. Panduit continues to supply imported covered products to its distributors.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

27. In addition to the distributors Panduit identifies on its website, Panduit continues 

to sell covered products through other companies including Amazon.com, Walmart, and 

SpaceBound, all three of which advertise that the products are imported.  Amazon.com sells 22 

covered products with China identified as the country of origin and 11 covered products with 

Costa Rica identified as the country of origin.  Ex. 5 ¶ 127, 129.  Amazon.com lists six of the 

imported covered products as first available on September 13, 2021, just a few weeks before the 

conclusion of the Presidential Review Period.  Id. ¶ 127.  Another module selling on Amazon 

was first available on July 30, 2021, just a few days before the Commission’s opinion.  Id.  

Walmart advertises a covered product, indicates Costa Rica is its country of origin, and claims 
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that “[t]he item . . . is selling fast!”  Id. ¶ 135 & Att. 212.  SpaceBound advertises nine covered 

products on its website, indicates Costa Rica as their country of origin, and states that eight 

covered products are available through special order and will “ship[] directly from the 

manufacturer.”  Id. ¶ 137.   

28. Panduit is not only making covered products available online.  Panduit is 

continuing to bid against Corning for new data center installations using its imported covered 

products.  Corning is aware of more than a dozen current customer Requests for Proposals 

(“RFPs”), worth several million dollars in total, where Panduit continues to offer and sell the 

excluded products. 

29. Recently, Panduit won such a bid for a major financial services company. 

30. The company sent out the RFP in July 2021  after Judge Shaw issued the ID, but 

before the Commission’s final determination.  The company is a long-time Panduit customer, 

and the specifications of the RFP were tied directly to Panduit’s product offerings.  Corning and 

Panduit both submitted bids by early August.  

31. On August 3, 2021, the Commission issued its final determination and the Orders.  

Panduit did not withdraw its bid, however, and was successful, meaning it will make a large sale 

of imported covered products to the company.   

32. After Panduit won the bid, it began soliciting its distributors to arrange the actual 

sale and delivery of the products to the financial services company.    
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B. It Appears that Panduit Paid a Lower Bond Than Required for 
Covered Products It Sold During the Presidential Review Period 

33. The Cease and Desist Order allowed Panduit to continue selling imported covered 

products during the sixty-day Presidential Review Period “subject to the Respondent’s posting of 

a bond in the amount of . . . 20.7% (modules) of the entered value of the covered products.”  

Ex. 1 at 7-8.  Panduit took advantage of this provision and continued to sell its covered modules 

during the Presidential Review Period.  See Ex. 7, Letter from Kelly J. Eberspecher to Secretary 

Lisa Barton, EDIS Doc. ID 754794 (Oct. 21, 2021) (acknowledging that Panduit sold “Panduit[ ] 

modules that are the subject of the CDO . . . during the Presidential Review Period”).  However, 

Panduit’s bond payments covering those sales are too low compared to (1) its past rate of sales 

and (2) the quantity of imported covered products in Panduit’s and its distributors’ inventories.   

34. Panduit’s bond payments are too low given its past rate of sales.  Panduit’s 

bond payments are not consistent with Panduit’s previous pace of sales.  During the underlying 

investigation, Todd Schoettelkotte (Corning’s expert on domestic industry, remedy, and bonding 

issues) calculated that Panduit typically sold about $1,733,365 worth of imported infringing 

modules every two months.1  See Ex. 7 ¶ 9, Decl. of W. Todd Schoettelkotte.   

35. The Presidential Review Period was also two months long (sixty days).  Thus, it is 

reasonable to expect that Panduit would have sold a similar volume of modules during the 

                                                 
1 As of June 2020, Panduit “had a U.S. inventory of 8,353 modules valued at 

approximately $1,733,665.”  Comm’n Op. at 84.  Mr. Schoettelkotte calculated that this quantity 
of modules was “sufficient to satisfy . . . approximately two months of sales of modules” given 
Panduit’s historical rate of sales from January 2018 through June 2020.  CX-0003C 
(Schoettelkotte WS) Q/A 213, EDIS Doc. ID 737817 (Sept. 3, 2020). 
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Presidential Review Period.  See Ex. 7 ¶ 10.  The appropriate bond on those sales would have 

been around $360,000 ($1,733,665 x 20.7% = $358,868.66).  Id. 

36. Panduit’s actual bond payments were much less.  Panduit made two bond 

payments:  (1) a  payment on August 4, 2021; and (2) a  payment on 

October 21, 2021.  See Ex. 3; Ex. 4.  Panduit’s total bond payment of  

 is only one-fifth of what would be expected  

.  See Ex. 7 ¶ 10.   

37. Panduit may believe that inventory sold by its distributors during the Presidential 

Review Period is not subject to the bond.  The Cease and Desist Order, however, expressly 

requires a bond for conduct prohibited by Section III to the extent that conduct occurs within the 

Presidential Review Period.  See Ex. 1 § XI.  Panduit’s “aid[ing] or abet[ting] other entities in 

the . . . sale . . . or distribution of covered products” (id. at § III) during the Presidential Review 

Period requires a bond payable by Panduit.  A contrary conclusion would create an incentive for 

a respondent that expects a cease and desist order to be issued to “park” products in a 

distributor’s warehouse the day before the Commission’s target date.  The purpose of a cease and 

desist order, to prevent circumvention of an exclusion order, would be frustrated by such 

behavior.  Cf. Certain Ink Cartridges and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-565, 

Commission Enforcement Decision, 2009 WL 3092629 at *17 (Sept. 24, 2009) (finding “bad 

faith” where “Respondents encouraged their customers to reserve a six-month supply of 

cartridges due to the possibility that the Commission would issue a general exclusion order”). 

38. Panduit’s bond payments are too low compared to what its distributors 

report to be current inventory of imported covered products.  The large quantity of covered 

products still being offered for sale by Panduit further suggests that Panduit’s bond is too low.  
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For example, Panduit promotes Digi-Key Electronics as one of its “Online Distributors” on the 

“Distributor Locator” on its website.  See Ex. 5 ¶ 22, Fig. 8, & Att. 3. 

39. Digi-Key, in addition to its own physical inventory of Panduit’s imported covered 

modules, advertises that it has several models of those modules in “Factory Stock.”  Digi-Key 

explains that “Factory Stock” is “stock that is available at the supplier [Panduit] which may be 

available to Digi-Key upon receipt of order.”  Ex. 5 ¶ 61 (emphasis added), Fig. 28, & Att. 118. 

40. Digi-Key advertises Factory Stock of at least four models of Panduit’s imported 

covered modules: 

Module Model Factory Stock Unit Price Total Value 
FHCZO-12-10AS2            1,065   $      571.08   $ 608,200.20  
FHC9N-12-10AS3               234   $      519.17   $ 121,485.78  
FHCZA-12-10AF4                 22   $      628.20   $   13,820.40  
FHCZO-24-10BN5                 12   $      986.60   $   11,839.20  

Total 1,333   $ 755,345.58  

41. Digi-Key’s data suggest that Panduit currently has at least $755,345.58 worth of 

just these four models of modules in its inventory.  The bond due for sales of these 1,333 

modules would be $755,345.58 x 20.7% = $156,356.53.  That is more than  what Panduit 

actually paid for all of its sales activities for all of its covered modules during the Presidential 

Review Period.   

                                                 
2 https://www.digikey.com/en/products/detail/panduit-corp/FHCZO-12-10AS/8000132; 

see also Ex. 5 ¶ 61, Fig. 28, & Att. 118. 
3 https://www.digikey.com/en/products/detail/panduit-corp/FHC9N-12-10AS/7919967; 

Ex. 5 ¶ 62, Fig. 29, & Att. 119. 
4 https://www.digikey.com/en/products/detail/panduit-corp/FHCZA-12-10AF/8000126 
5 https://www.digikey.com/en/products/detail/panduit-corp/FHCZO-24-10BN/7919970 
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C. Panduit’s Purported Justifications for Its Violations of the Cease and 
Desist Order Are Baseless and Indicate Bad Faith 

42. Panduit has stated several reasons for continuing to sell the covered products.  

First, Panduit has repeatedly told customers and distributors that the covered products are “not 

infringing” and that the Asserted Patents are “not valid.”  For example, on June 21, 2021 – after 

the ID determined that Panduit’s products are infringing and that Corning’s patents are not 

invalid, and after the Commission declined to review those determinations – Panduit issued a 

press release to its customers that stated it “remains optimistic that it’s [sic] right to continue 

importing HD Flex products into the U.S. and that selling these products after importation will 

be confirmed.”  Ex. 8 at 2, Panduit, Panduit Responds to Ongoing Patent Infringement Lawsuit, 

PR Newswire, June 21, 2021.  Panduit’s general counsel Christopher Clancy is quoted in the 

press release stating, “Panduit disagrees with the ALJ’s conclusion that the asserted patents are 

valid.”  Id. at 1. 

43. Following the Commission’s August 3, 2021 Orders, Panduit told multiple 

customers that Panduit’s products “are not patent infringing” and that Corning’s patents “are 

invalid.”   

 

 

 

44. Even a good-faith belief in a patent’s invalidity would be no defense to induced 

infringement, see Commil USA, LLC v. Cisco Systems, 575 U.S. 632, 642-43 (2015), and it 

would not justify Panduit disobeying the Commission’s Orders.  The Federal Circuit has 

affirmed the Commission’s imposing sanctions to enforce its orders in circumstances where a 

party disobeys the order while claiming the underlying patent is invalid.  See DeLorme Publ’g 
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Co. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 805 F.3d 1328 (Fed. Cir. 2015); see also DBN Holding, Inc. v. Int’l 

Trade Comm’n, No. 2020-2342 (Fed. Cir.) (pending) (appeal involving amount of penalty but 

not challenging appropriateness of penalty).  The Commission’s Orders here, unless modified, 

apply “[f]or the remaining terms of the Asserted Patents.”  See Ex. 1 at § III; Ex. 2 at ¶ 1. 

45. But Panduit cannot have a good-faith belief that Corning’s patents are invalid.  In 

addition to Judge Shaw’s determination of validity and the Commission’s declining to review 

that determination, Panduit’s invalidity arguments have been rejected by the PTAB and the 

Federal Circuit.  In 2016, Panduit sought inter partes review of the ’320 patent.  The PTAB 

instituted review with respect to the ’320 patent, and held that Panduit had failed to show that the 

challenged claims of the ’320 patent were invalid.  Panduit appealed that ruling to the Federal 

Circuit, which summarily affirmed the PTAB ruling.6  Because Panduit’s IPR challenge to 

the ’320 resulted in a final written decision, Panduit is estopped from arguing before the 

Commission or in civil litigation that the ’320 is invalid “on any ground that the petitioner raised 

or reasonably could have raised during that inter partes review.”  35 U.S.C. § 315(e)(2).  Given 

this history, Panduit’s disobeying the Commission’s Order on the ground that the patents are 

invalid is bad faith. 

46. Second, a Panduit representative told at least one customer that the Commission’s 

Order does not apply to products imported from a “NAFTA country.”  The Commission’s Cease 

and Desist Order has no such exception.  E.g., Ex. 1 § III(A) (prohibiting “importation into the 

United States”).  Moreover, Costa Rica and China are not “NAFTA countries.” 

                                                 
6 Panduit Corp. v. Corning Optical Commc’ns LLC, IPR2017-00009, 2018 WL 1891459 

(P.T.A.B. Apr. 13, 2018), aff ’d, 774 Fed. App’x 682 (Fed. Cir. Aug. 8, 2019). 
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47. Third, Panduit told its distributors that it has moved its manufacturing facilities to 

the United States to be compliant with the Commission’s Orders.  However, Panduit’s 

distributors continue to advertise and market the covered products as being made outside the 

United States.  See Ex. 5 ¶¶ 55, 79, 92, 112, 127, 129, 131-132, 134, 137.  When Corning 

ordered samples of the products more than a month after the expiration of the Presidential 

Review Period, the products that arrived were marked “Made in Costa Rica.”  See Ex. 5 ¶¶ 3, 10, 

19, 26, 33.   

48. Fourth, Panduit has asserted that the Commission’s Cease and Desist Order does 

not apply to sales by distributors if the distributors are not “controlled” by Panduit.  Panduit sent 

a letter to Corning dated November 15, 2021 asserting that Corning is interfering with “Panduit’s 

business relationship with its distributors” because “[Panduit’s] distributors are [not] bound by 

the Commission’s cease and desist order.”  Ex. 9 at 1.  Panduit explained that, in its view, “the 

Commission’s cease and desist order does not apply to companies whom Panduit does not 

control.”  Id. (citing Certain Magnetic Data Storage Tapes & Cartridges Containing the Same, 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1012 (Enforcement), Initial Det. (July 3, 2019)). 

49. Panduit is misreading the Commission’s Cease and Desist Order.  The Order 

applies to companies that Panduit controls, and also applies to Panduit’s distributors, whether or 

not controlled.  “The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to [Panduit] and to 

any of its . . . distributors . . . insofar as they are engaging in [prohibited conduct] for, with, or 

otherwise on behalf of, [Panduit].”  Ex. 1 at 3. 

50. Panduit cited Judge Shaw’s Enforcement ID in Magnetic Data Storage Tapes, 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1012, as precedent, but that case did not hold that a cease and desist order 

covers only distributors “controlled” by the infringer.  The “issue in [that] enforcement 
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proceeding” was “whether [redacted company name] is Sony’s distributor,” not whether it was 

controlled by Sony.  See id. at 28 (emphasis added).  Here the entities continuing to sell the 

imported covered products are identified by Panduit as its distributors.  See Ex. 5 ¶¶ 42-125; see 

also Ex. 9 at 1 (“its distributors”). 

VII. RELATED LITIGATION AND AGENCY PROCEEDINGS 

51. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(5), Corning states that some of the 

patents and unfair acts involved in this enforcement Complaint are the subject of past or pending 

court litigations and inter partes reviews.  

52. Panduit filed an IPR challenging claims of the ’320 patent in IPR2017-00009.  

The PTAB found all challenged claims to be not unpatentable.  Panduit appealed and the Federal 

Circuit summarily affirmed.  See Panduit Corp. v. Corning Optical Commc’ns LLC, 774 Fed. 

App’x. 682 (Fed. Cir. Aug. 8, 2019). 

53. FS.com, one of Panduit’s co-respondents in the underlying investigation, 

requested ex parte reexamination of the ’320 patent on September 27, 2021.  The PTO denied 

that request on November 15, 2021.  See Order Denying Request for Ex Parte Reexamination in 

Reexamination Control No. 90/019,020.   

54. Litigation involving the ’320, ’456, and ’153 patents in the United States District 

Court for the Western District of Washington, captioned Leviton Mfg. Co. v. Corning Optical 

Commc’ns LLC, No. 2:21-cv-01102-CFC (W.D. Wash.), was terminated by voluntary dismissal 

on October 12, 2021.  

55. Litigation involving the ’320 patent, captioned Corning Optical Commc’ns LLC v. 

Panduit Corp., No. 1:16-cv-00268-CFC (D. Del.), has been pending in the United States District 

Court for the District of Delaware since April 2016.  That case is stayed pending final resolution 

of the underlying investigation.   
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56. Litigation involving the ’320, ’456, and ’153 patents is currently pending in the 

United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Corning Optical Commc’ns 

LLC v. Leviton Mfg. Co., No. 1:21-cv-01185-CFC (D. Del.).  On August 18, 2021, Corning filed 

its complaint in district court against Leviton alleging infringement of the ’320, ’456, and ’153 

patents.  No discovery has commenced.  On October 12, 2021, the court entered a stipulation to 

extend the deadline for Leviton to respond to the complaint to December 13, 2021. 

57. Finally, on October 18, 2021, Panduit filed an IPR petition challenging claims 

1-30 of the ’456 patent in IPR2021-01562.  An institution decision is not expected until at least 

April 2022.   

VIII. RELIEF REQUESTED 

58. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainant Corning respectfully 

requests that the United States International Trade Commission: 

(a) Institute a formal enforcement proceeding, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.75, to 

determine the violation of the Commission’s Orders, including as described herein; 

(b) Promptly refer this matter to an Administrative Law Judge for issuance of an 

Initial Determination on the issues of the enforcement violation and remedy requested; 

(c) Direct the Administrative Law Judge to permit an expedited period for fact 

discovery on Panduit’s continued violations of the Commission’s Orders, hold a hearing, and 

issue an Initial Determination on Enforcement as soon as practicable; and 

(d) After the enforcement proceeding, in the event the Commission determines that 

there has been a violation of the Commission Orders, provide the following remedies: 

(1) Enforce the Cease and Desist Order pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f) and 

19 C.F.R. § 210.75 and prohibit Panduit and any of its principals, 

stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, licensees, distributors, 
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controlled (whether by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned 

business entities, successors, and assigns from engaging in illegal 

activities; 

(2) Modify the Commission’s General Exclusion Order and/or Cease and 

Desist Order pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.75(b)(4) in any manner that 

would assist in the prevention of the unfair practices that were originally 

the basis for issuing such Orders or assist in the detection of violations of 

such Orders; 

(3) Impose the maximum statutory penalties for violation of the 

Commission’s Cease and Desist Order (including monetary sanctions for 

each day’s violations of the Cease and Desist Order of the greater of 

$100,000.00 or twice the domestic value of the articles entered or sold, 

whichever is higher) against Panduit and any of its principals, 

stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, licensees, distributors, 

controlled (whether by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned 

business entities, successors and assigns found to be in violation of the 

Cease and Desist Order; 

(4) If necessary, bring a civil action in an appropriate United States District 

Court pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(2) requesting collection of such 

civil penalties and the issuance of a mandatory injunction preventing 

further violation of the Cease and Desist Order; and 

(5) Impose such other remedies and sanctions as are appropriate and within 

the Commission’s authority. 
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VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT 
 

I, Tim Shafroth, declare in accordance with 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.4 and 210.12(a), under 

penalty of perjury, that the following statements are true:  

1. I am the Global Director, Plug and Play Solutions, PLM of Corning Optical 

Communications LLC.  I have read the Enforcement Complaint (except for the Panduit 

Corporation Confidential Business Information contained therein).  I am duly authorized to 

verify the Enforcement Complaint on behalf of Corning Optical Communications LLC. 

2. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, formed after a reasonable 

inquiry, the allegations and other factual contentions of the Enforcement Complaint have 

evidentiary support, or, where specifically identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after 

a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery, or have been assembled by 

authorized employees and counsel, and I am informed that the facts stated therein are true. 

3. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, formed after a reasonable 

inquiry, the claims and other legal contentions set forth in the Enforcement Complaint are 

warranted by existing law or by a non-frivolous argument for the extension, modification, or 

reversal of existing law, or by the establishment of new law. 

4. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, formed after a reasonable 

inquiry, the Enforcement Complaint is not being filed for an improper purpose, such as to harass 

or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. 

 

Executed on 24th day of November, 2021    
       Tim Shafroth 
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